
 

 
i 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL, PENNS PLACE, 
PETERSFIELD, HAMPSHIRE GU31 4EX 

 
Telephone:  01730 266551 

Website:  www.easthants.gov.uk 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

Date: Thursday, 3 September 2020 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Venue: Skype for Business 

 
 

 
Membership:      Councillor S Pond (Chairman) 
 
Councillors A Williams (Vice-Chairman), D Ashcroft, D Evans, A Glass, G Hill, 
S Hunt, M Johnson, C Louisson, P Langley, S Schillemore, I Thomas and 
E Woodard 
 
Reserves: 
 
Councillors K Budden, S Burns, K Carter, N Drew and N Taylor 
 

(THE QUORUM FOR THIS MEETING IS 7 VOTING COUNCILLORS) 
 

 
 
The business to be transacted is set out below:  
 
 
David Brown 
Monitoring Officer 
 
 
Date of Publication: Tuesday, 25 August 2020 
 
Contact Officer: Lisa Papps 01730 234073 
 Email:  lisa.papps@easthants.gov.uk 
 
 

 

Working in Partnership 



 

 
ii 

 

  Page Nos 

  
 

 

1.  Apologies for Absence   
 

 

2.  Confirmation of Minutes   
 
Please note that it is helpful if Councillors could give advance notice, 
to Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect 
of the Minutes. 
 
Minutes of the meeting held on 2 July 2020, circulated under separate 
cover. 
 
 

 

3.  Confirmation of Attendance   
 

 

4.  Chairman's Announcements   
 

 

5.  Declarations of Interest   
 
Councillors are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest which they may have in any item of 
business on the agenda no later than when that item is reached.  
Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any 
discussion of, or vote on, or discharge any function related to any 
matter in which you have a pecuniary interest as defined by 
regulations made by the Secretary of State under the Localism Act 
2011.  You must withdraw from the meeting when the committee 
discusses and votes on the matter. 
 

 

 

Matters for Decision 
 

 
 

6.  Acceptance of Supplementary Matters   
 

 

7.  Future Items   
 

9 - 10 

8.  Report of the Director of Regeneration and Place   
 

 

 

PART 1 - East Hampshire District Council Items 
 

 
 

  
There are no Part 1 items in this agenda. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
iii 

 
 

PART 2 - South Downs National Park Items 
 
 

 

Section I 
 

 
 

8.(i)   SDNP/20/01678/FUL - 2-3 The Square, Chapel Street, East Meon, 
GU32 1NP   
 
Mr M Probyn 
 
Replacement dwelling, following demolition of existing dwelling (part 
retrospective) (additional information received on 23 and 24 June 
2020).  
 

11 - 44 

 

Section II 
 

 
 

 There are no Section II items within this agenda. 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. This report considers planning applications submitted to the Council, as the Local 
Planning Authority, for determination.  It may also include items which are being 
determined by the Council on behalf of the South Downs National Park Authority. 

East Hampshire District Council is acting as an agent for the South Downs National 
Park Authority in accordance with an agreement signed under Section 101 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990.  Under this arrangement the Council can determine 
planning applications on sites within the South Downs National Park area of the district 
on behalf of the National Park Authority.  Applications for the South Downs National 
Park are prefixed with the letters SDNP.  

2.1. SECTIONS IN THE REPORT 

The report is divided into two main parts;  

Part 1 – East Hampshire District Council 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which are 
being determined or considered by the Council as the Local Planning Authority.   

Part 2 – South Downs National Park Authority 

This part of the report considers applications and related planning matters which fall 
within East Hampshire District’s area of the South Downs National Park and which the 
Council is determining or considering on behalf of the South Downs National Park 
Authority.   

Each part of the report is split into two sections:   

Section 1 - Schedule of Application Recommendations  

This Section deals with planning applications that have been received by the Council 
and which require the Planning Committee to make a decision to grant or refuse 
permission.  Each item contains a full description of the proposed development, details 
of the consultations undertaken and summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and concludes with 
a recommendation.  A presentation with slides will be made to Committee.  Public 
participation is allowed on Section 1 items. 

Section 2 – Other matters  

This Section deals with other planning matters which are not the subject of a current 
application or are current applications which have already been determined and have 
been subject to a committee resolution to grant or refuse.  

Page 1

Agenda Annex



 

No formal presentation will be made to Committee, unless required, and there will be 
no public participation.” 

2.2. All information, advice, and recommendations contained in this report are understood 
to be correct at the time of publication, which is more than one week in advance of the 
Committee meeting.  Because of the time constraints, some reports may have been 
prepared in advance of the final date for consultee responses or neighbour comment.  
Where a recommendation is either altered or substantially amended between 
preparing the report and the Committee meeting or where additional information has 
been received, a separate Supplementary Matters paper will be circulated at the 
meeting to assist Councillors.  This paper will be available to members of the public. 

3. PLANNING POLICY 

3.1. All planning applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan, 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Town and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  If the development plan contains material policies 
or proposals and there are no other material considerations, the application should be 
determined in accordance with the development plan.  Where there are other material 
considerations, the development plan will be the starting point, and other material 
considerations will also be taken into account.  One such consideration will be whether 
the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  The relevant development plans are the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 
2014, the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations 
2016 and the saved policies in the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 
2006.  The Development Plan also includes made neighbourhood Plans. 

3.2. Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the relevant 
development plan will have been used as a background document and the relevant 
policies taken into account in the preparation of the report on each item.   

3.3. The East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan have policies that 
contain criteria that must be met if a particular form of development is to be allowed.  
Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) February  2019 states:  
“Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.”   

3.4. The Council may sometimes decide to grant planning permission for development that 
departs from a development plan if other material considerations indicate that it should 
proceed.  One of these material considerations is whether the plan is up-to-date in 
terms of housing delivery.  

4. OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS  

4.1. Material considerations must be genuine planning considerations, i.e. they must be 
related to the development and use of land in the public interest.  They must also fairly 
and reasonably relate to the application concerned.  The Courts are the arbiters of 
what constitutes a material consideration.  All the fundamental factors involved in land-
use planning are included, such as the number, size, layout, siting, design, and 
external appearance of buildings and the proposed means of access, together with 

Page 2



 

landscaping, impact on the neighbourhood, and the availability of infrastructure.   

4.2. Matters that should not be taken into account are: 

 loss of property value  loss of view 
 land and boundary disputes  matters covered by leases or covenants 
 the impact of construction 

work 
 property maintenance issues 

 need for development (save in 
certain defined circumstances) 

 the identity or personal characteristics of 
the applicant 

 competition between firms,   or matters that are dealt with by other 
legislation, such as the Building 
Regulations (e.g. structural safety, fire 
risks, means of escape in the event of 
fire etc). - The fact that a development 
may conflict with other legislation is not 
a reason to refuse planning permission 
or defer a decision.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to ensure compliance with 
all relevant legislation. 

 

4.3. Government statements of planning policy are material considerations that must be 
taken into account in deciding planning applications.  These statements cannot make 
irrelevant any matter that is a material consideration in a particular case.  Nevertheless, 
where such statements indicate the weight that should be given to relevant 
considerations, decision-makers must have proper regard to them.   

4.4. In those cases where the development plan is not relevant, for example because there 
are no relevant policies, the planning application should be determined on its merits in 
the light of all the material considerations.  

5. PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS  

5.1. The Council can impose conditions on planning permissions only where there is a clear 
land-use planning justification for doing so.  Conditions should be used in a way that is 
clearly seen to be fair, reasonable, and practicable.  One key test of whether a 
particular condition is necessary is if planning permission would have to be refused if 
the condition were not imposed.  Otherwise, such a condition would need special and 
precise justification.  

 

5.2. Where it is not possible to include matters that are necessary for a development to 
proceed in a planning condition the Council can agree a planning obligation under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  Planning obligations should 
meet the Secretary of State's policy tests.  They should be:  
 necessary; 
 relevant to planning; 
 directly related to the proposed development; 
 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development; and 

Page 3



 

 reasonable in all other respects. 

 

5.3. The use of planning obligations is governed by the fundamental principle that planning 
permission may not be bought or sold.  It is therefore not legitimate for unacceptable 
development to be permitted because of benefits or inducements offered by a 
developer, which are not necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms.  Planning obligations are only a material consideration to be taken into account 
when deciding whether to grant planning permission, and it is for the Council to decide 
what weight should be attached to a particular material consideration.  

6. PLANNING APPEALS  

Applicants have the right of appeal to the Secretary of State if an application is refused, or 
granted subject to conditions, or if it has not been determined within the specified period.  
Appeals are administered by the Planning Inspectorate - an executive agency reporting to 
the Secretary of State.  Appeals are considered by written representation, hearings, and 
public inquiries.  In planning appeals, it is normally expected that both parties will pay their 
own costs.  Costs can however, be awarded against the Council where it: 
 

(a) fails to determine a planning application in good time – the Council must have good 
planning reasons to explain and justify why it did not make a decision in time. 

(b) fails to carry out adequate prior investigation consistent with national policy and 
guidance. 

(c) prevents or delays development that should clearly be permitted having regard to 
the development plan, national policy statements and any other material 
considerations.  It is the Councils responsibility to produce evidence to show clearly, 
why the development cannot be permitted. Reasons for refusal must be 

 complete,  
 precise,  
 specific 
 relevant to the application, and 
 supported by substantiated evidence.  

(d) fails to show reasonable planning grounds for taking a decision contrary to officer 
advice  

(e) gives too much weight to neighbour objections - the extent of local opposition is not, 
in itself, a reasonable ground for resisting development. To carry significant weight, 
opposition should be founded on valid planning reasons that is supported by 
substantial evidence. 

(f) relies on unsubstantiated objections where they include valid reasons for refusal but 
rely almost exclusively on local opposition from third parties, through 
representations and attendance at an inquiry or hearing, to support the decision. 

(g) fails to show that it has considered the possibility of imposing relevant planning 
conditions to allow development to proceed. 

 
The following are examples given in Planning Practice Guidance of circumstances that 
may lead to an award of costs against the Council: 
(a) ignoring relevant national policy – for example, the advice in NPPF, 
(b) where a proposal is contrary to the development plan but the relevant policy has 

been superseded by national policy which advocates an entirely different approach.  

Page 4



 

An example might be ignoring national advice in paragraph 77 of NPPF which may 
allow some market housing to bring forward a rural affordable housing exception 
site, 

(c) acting contrary to, or not following, well-established case law, 
(d) persisting in objections to a scheme, or part of a scheme, which has already been 

granted planning permission or which the Secretary of State or an Inspector has 
previously indicated to be acceptable, 

(e) not determining like cases in a like manner – for example, imposing an additional 
reason for refusal on a similar scheme to one previously considered by the planning 
authority where circumstances have not materially changed, 

(f) failing to grant a further planning permission for a scheme the subject of an extant 
or recently expired permission where there has been no material change in 
circumstances, 

(g) refusing to approve reserved matters when the objections relate to issues that 
should already have been considered at the outline stage, 

(h) imposing a condition that is not necessary, precise, enforceable, relevant to 
planning, relevant to the development permitted or reasonable and thereby does 
not comply with the advice in the Planning Practice Guidance on the use of 
conditions in planning permissions, 

(i) requiring the appellant to enter into or complete a planning obligation which does 
not accord with the tests in para 56 of the NPPF, or 

(j) not imposing conditions on a grant of planning permission where conditions could 
effectively have overcome the objection identified – for example, in relation to 
highway matters. 

 

7. THE SECRETARY OF STATE'S ROLE 

7.1 The Secretary of State has reserve powers to direct the council to refer an application 
to him/her for decision. This is what is meant by a 'called-in' application. In general, 
this power of intervention is used selectively and the Secretary of State will not interfere 
with the jurisdiction of local planning authorities unless it is necessary to do so.  The 
Planning Practice Guidance sets out the type of development proposals that directs 
local authorities to consult with the Secretary of State before granting planning 
permission. 

 

8. PROPRIETY 

8.1 Councillors are elected to represent the interests of the whole community in planning 
matters and not simply their individual Wards.  When determining planning applications 
they must take into account planning considerations only.  This can include views 
expressed on relevant planning matters.  Local opposition or support for a proposal is 
not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission, unless it is founded 
upon valid planning reasons.  

9. PRIVATE INTERESTS  

9.1 The planning system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person 
against the activities of another, although private interests may coincide with the public 

Page 5



 

interest in some cases.  It can be difficult to distinguish between public and private 
interests, but this may be necessary on occasion.  The basic question is not whether 
owners and occupiers of neighbouring properties would experience financial or other 
loss from a particular development, but whether the proposal would unacceptably 
affect amenities and the existing use of land and buildings that ought to be protected 
in the public interest. Covenants or the maintenance/protection of private property are 
therefore not material planning consideration. 

10. OTHER LEGISLATION  

10.1 Non-planning legislation may place statutory requirements on planning authorities, or 
may set out controls that need to be taken into account (for example, environmental 
legislation, or water resources legislation).  The Council, in exercising its functions, 
also must have regard to the general requirements of other legislation, in particular:  

 The Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000, which prevents discrimination 
directly or indirectly in any functions, carried out by public authorities.  

 The Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on all those responsible for providing 
a service to the public not to discriminate against disabled people by providing a 
lower standard of service.  

 The Human Rights Act 1998, which incorporated provisions of the European 
Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into UK law.  The general purpose of the 
ECHR is to protect human rights and fundamental freedoms and to maintain and 
promote the ideals and values of a democratic society.  It sets out the basic rights 
of every person together with the limitations placed on these rights in order to 
protect the rights of others and of the wider community.  The specific Articles of 
the ECHR relevant to planning include Article 6 (Right to a fair and public hearing), 
Article 8 (Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence), 
Article 14 (Prohibition of discrimination) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (Right to 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property).  All planning 
applications are assessed to make sure that the subsequent determination of the 
development proposal is compatible with the Act.  If there is a potential conflict, 
this will be highlighted in the report on the relevant item. 
 

11. PUBLIC SPEAKING 

11.1 The Council has adopted a scheme for the public to speak on all Section 1 items. 
Where public speaking is allowed, the applicant or their representative, the local 
Parish/Town Council, and one objector may address the Committee, for a maximum 
of three minutes each, by prior invitation.  Members of the public wishing to speak must 
have contacted the Meeting Administrator in Democratic Services at least 48 hours 
before the meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to the Committee at the 
Committee meeting itself. 

11.2 For probity reasons associated with advance disclosure of information under the 
Access to Information Act, neither the applicant, Parish Council, nor an objector will be 
allowed to circulate, show or display further material at, or just before, the Committee 
meeting.   

 

Page 6



 

12.  INSPECTION OF DRAWINGS 

12.1 All drawings are available for inspection on the internet at www.easthants.gov.uk and 
at the Planning Development Reception area during our normal office hours.  The files 
and drawings will also be available 30 minutes prior to the start of meeting for 
Councillors to inspect. 

13. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in the event 
of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the Council’s decision.  
Rarely and in certain circumstances, decisions on planning applications may result in 
the Council facing an application for costs arising from a planning appeal.  Officers will 
aim to alert Members where this may be likely and provide appropriate advice in such 
circumstances. 

 
Simon Jenkins 
Director of Regeneration and Place 
 
Background Papers: 
 
 the individual planning application file (reference quoted in each case) 
 the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 
 East Hampshire Joint Core Strategy 2014 
 East Hampshire Employment & Housing allocations Plan 2016 
 East Hampshire District Local Plan: Second Review 2006 - Saved Policies 
 Adopted Neighbourhood Plans: Alton, Bentley, Medstead & Four Marks, Ropley, 

Petersfield, Liss, and East Meon 
 Government advice and guidance contained in circulars, National Planning Policy 

Framework, Planning Practice Guidance and ministerial statements 
 any other document specifically referred to in the report. 

Page 7

http://www.easthats.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
3 September 2020 

 
POSSIBLE FUTURE ITEMS FOR COMMITTEE / SITE VISIT 

 
The following items are for INFORMATION purposes only.  They comprise major 
applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for 
consideration or are recently received applications that are not ready to be considered by 
the Committee or determined under the Scheme of Delegation.  The purpose of this report 
is to highlight the receipt of these applications to ensure that any issues that they raise are 
highlighted at an early stage.  Councillors may also suggest possible future site visits under 
this item. 
 
 

 Reference Description and Address 

1 55587/129 
 
 
 

Detached building for employment unit (with ancillary offices) 
and parking/servicing areas including a deck car-park.  
Modification of the Relief Road to create a new junction to 
access the employment unit, together with internal site roads, 
to also allow a separate means of access to a SANGS car-
park from Hogmoor Road.  Modification of the previously 
approved Green Loop pedestrian/cycle link to the east of the 
site; and  Utilities and services corridors and associated 
infrastructure /landscaping/sub-station and boundary 
treatment including an acoustic barrier around part of the 
service yard. 
 
New Warehouse / Office Buildings adjacent to, Templars 
Way, Bordon 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

2 27106/012 Development of 10 no.2 bedroom flats, parking, bin and cycle 
stores following demolition of the existing nursing home 
 
Mayfield House Care Home, 41 London Road, Liphook, 
GU30 7AP 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 
 

Page 9



3 50463/001 Development of 10 dwellings with parking and landscaping  
 
Land West of Linden, Fullers Road, Rowledge, Farnham 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

4 
 
 
 
 
 

26242/062 Change of use from Agriculture land to Equestrian use with 
mobile field shelter 
 
Former Dean Farm Golf Course, Forge Road, Kingsley, 
Bordon, GU35 9NG 
 
This application has only just recently been submitted and 
consultations and notifications are under way.  It is too early 
to make any decision as to how this application will be 
determined. 
 

 

Page 10



 

Page 11



PART 2 
 
 

SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE  

 
Applications to be determined by the council on behalf  

of the South Downs National Park Authority 
 

 
3 September 2020 

 
SECTION 1 – SCHEDULE OF APPLICATION RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

 

Agenda Item 01 

Report to Planning Committee 

Date 3 September 2020 

By Director of Regeneration and Place 

Local Authority East Hampshire District Council 

Application Number SDNP/20/01678/FUL 

Applicant Mr M Probyn 

Application 
Replacement dwelling (part retrospective) (additional 
information received on 23 and 24 June 2020). 

Address 
2-3 The Square, Chapel Street, East Meon, GU32 1NP 

 

 

Recommendation: That the application be Approved for the reasons and 

subject to the conditions set out in paragraph 10 of this report. 

 

IMPORTANT NOTE: This application is liable for Community Infrastructure 
Levy. 

 
This application is brought before the Planning Committee, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution (11.2.1. (i) (a)), in that the proposal is recommended for permission that is 
contrary to the provisions of an approved development plan and adopted planning policy. 
  

Page 12



Executive Summary 
 
There is no in-principle objection to the demolition of buildings or structures within a 
conservation area in the National Park, this is providing the development accords with Policy 
SD15 of the South Downs Local Plan that requires development proposals to sufficiently 
demonstrate the current building or structure makes no positive contribution to the special 
architectural or historic interest, character or appearance of the conservation area and the 
replacement would make an equal or greater contribution to the character and appearance of 
the conservation area. 
 
Significant protections are also given to heritage assets (designated or non-designated 
heritage assets) as set out within the NPPF and section 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is also applicable in this instance. These parts of 
this legislation require planning authorities, when considering to grant planning permission for 
development, to have special regard to impacts and setting of listed building and effects on a 
Conservation Area, having special regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  
 
The Authority's Conservation Officer has considered the proposal and advised that the 
development would not preserve the character and appearance of the East Meon 
Conservation Area and the substantial harm arising from the demolition of the building is not 
outweighed by substantial public benefits. However, no harm was identified to the nearby 
listed buildings in terms of their setting. As the demolition works were unauthorised and 
carried out prior to the submission and consideration of this application it was not possible to 
consider whether the demolition works were necessary and there were no other alternatives 
that would have enabled the original building to be retained. Officers are not of the opinion, on 
the basis of the evidence that has been submitted with this application, that the building was 
in such a poor condition it required full demolition.  
 
The proposal details a like-for-like replacement of the original building, however, despite the 
proposed building being consistent in design, form and scale, it would be built to modern day 
building standards/techniques and would not make an equal contribution to the character and 
appearance of the East Meon Conservation Area as the original building, which is believed to 
be over 150 years old. As such, the development would fail to preserve and enhance the 
character and appearance of the East Meon Conservation Area and fail to comply with Policy 
SD15 of the South Downs Local Plan, the advice contained within the NPPF and section 72 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  
 
Despite the conflict with the development plan, advice contained within the NPPF and section 
72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, planning law allows 
for development proposals to be granted where they are in conflict with the development plan 
provided there are material considerations that outweigh the conflict.   
 
 
 
 

Page 13



In this instance, whilst it has been established that the development would result in an 
unacceptable harm to designated and non-designated heritage asset the situation presented 
under this application is that the existing building is no longer in place, having been 
demolished in full prior to the submission of the application. This situation is regrettable and in 
no way condoned or supported, however, the Authority must consider this context and look 
towards the most appropriate solution to secure the medium and long-term character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area and character of the area more generally.  In this 
context the replacement of the existing building, on a like-for-like basis, is considered the best 
and most pragmatic solution in the circumstances.  
 
When all matters are taken in account, the option presented is considered to be the best 
solution available in the circumstances, and would provide the best option to protect the 
character and appearance of the East Meon Conservation Area in the medium and long-term. 
As such, the application is recommended for approval, subject to conditions.  
 
 
1 Site Description 

 
The site to which this application relates is located within the Settlement Policy 
Boundary of East Meon, the East Meon Conservation Area, the South Downs National 
Park and is within the East Meon Neighbourhood Development Plan area. Opposite 
the site, to the north and west, are three listed buildings (Heycroft House, The Tudor 
House and Cross House).  
 
2-3 The Square is an end terrace two storey dwelling house on the corner of High 
Street and Chapel Street, with parking to the rear of the building accessed from Chapel 
Street. There are existing residential properties on all sides of the site, with a mixture of 
property styles, forms, appearance and age. 
 

2 Proposal 
 
This application seeks planning permission for essentially a like-for-like replacement of 
the existing end terrace three-bedroom property. This application has been submitted 
following the demolition of the existing dwelling and is therefore partly retrospective in 
nature.  
 
The applicant has provided the following information in support of the application: 
 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Planning Statement 

 Design and Heritage Impact Statement 

 Condition Report 

 Ecosystems Services Statement 

 Architect Statements x 2  

 Building Control Surveyor Statement 

 Technical Report - Condition of the Building 

Page 14



 Building Observations Statement 
 
The proposed replacement dwelling would remain on the same footprint as the existing 
property, and the external dimensions are consistent with the original building.  

 
3 Relevant Planning History 

 
SDNP/18/01438/FUL - New detached dwelling, extension and alterations to existing 
cottage and new vehicular access onto Chapel Street (as amended by plans received 
on 28/06/2018). Approved, 15 August 2018. (Works completed). 
 
SDNP/20/01747/FUL - Demolition of existing dwelling (retrospective) (additional 
information received on 23 and 24 June 2020). Under consideration. 

 
4 Consultations  
 

EH -Traffic Management Team - Traffic Team has no adverse comment to make on 
this application. 
 
HCC - East Hants Highways - No objection, subject to a condition (parking provision). 
 
East Meon Parish Council - No objection, but with the following observations:  
 

 vehicle access is now clarified on drawing no. TS02, resubmitted on 23 June. 
However, it is still difficult to reconcile this with the newly installed dropped kerb 
for 2, The Square; there doesn't appear to be space for the small planter on the 
right of the entrance. EMPC would also like the plan to show that all planters for 
this building will be constructed of materials appropriate to 2, The Square. 

 

 parking spaces are now shown and clear. However, EMPC is concerned that 
car parking space 2 will not be convenient to use. EHDC Vehicle Parking 
Standards, July 2018, para 3.2.2 states, 'Tandem parking (i.e. one car behind 
another) can reduce the likelihood of the rear parking space being used.' and 
para 3.2.4, 'Where two spaces are to be provided without a garage, it is 
preferable that those spaces are provided side by side if general design 
principles support it.' This is important to ensure that the new dwelling at 2, The 
Square does not contribute to on-street parking in that area, which is already 
problematic.  

 
The following points made in EMPC's previous response (27 May 20) are still relevant: 
 

 Drawing TS15A shows that the front aspect will be rendered brickwork, but we 
understand that it will actually be painted brickwork. This needs to be clarified 
before any approval is granted and  

 part of the approval conditions.  
 

Page 15



 We understand that bricks and roof tiles reclaimed from the demolished dwelling 
will be used to construct the new house. If approved, EMPC would like to see a 
condition of approval that these reclaimed bricks and tiles must be used and that 
if there are not enough, identical bricks and tiles sourced from elsewhere must 
be used.  

 

 The document 'Schedule of Materials and Manufacturers' Products' submitted 
with the application does not apply to this application (it is for 3, The Square, not 
number 2) and, to avoid any confusion, should be removed before any approval 
is granted.  

 

 Bearing in mind the corner location of this property and that, during construction, 
vehicle parking on site will be limited, EMPC would like to see (and have the 
opportunity to comment on) a Construction Management Plan demonstrating 
how vehicle loading and unloading will be managed to avoid disruption on 
Chapel Street and surrounding roads and to local residents.  

 

 The pavement outside 2, The Square is used by schoolchildren and parents 
walking from the village centre to and from East Meon School. Adherence to this 
plan should be a condition of approval.  

 

 The dropped kerb covering the vehicle access to both this dwelling (2, The 
Square) and the new building next door (3, The Square) is longer than 
necessary, covering the whole frontage of 3, The Square. This is inconsistent 
with Drawing No. TS51, 'Boundary Treatment and Landscaping'. Residents 
have commented that this looks inappropriate in the Conservation Area.  

 

 EMPC requests that, if approved, a condition is included which requires that the 
pavement is re-established, and the dropped kerb only covers the accesses to 
each dwelling. If not possible, maybe we could have an explanation of why such 
a long-dropped kerb is deemed appropriate.  

 
EH - Conservation Section  - Objection – comments set out in full within the report 
below. 
 
HCC - Ecology Group - The application is not accompanied by any ecological 
information. From review of the proposal, the dwelling is no longer present, having 
been demolished earlier this year. On that basis, there is no potential for protected or 
notable species to be present and therefore no further information is required. 
However, there is no way of knowing whether the demolition works have impacted 
protected species: from review of the submitted photos it is highly likely that bats in 
particular may have been roosting within the dwelling. 
 
EH - Landscape Officer - No objections to the scheme other than the picket fence 
should be retained to the front of the property facing the High Street to preserve 
cottage garden appearance. 

Page 16



5 Representations 
 
Two letters have been received, raising the following comments and observations: 

 

 no objection to the new building, but submitted site plan shows incorrect drive 
entrance - shown adjacent to new driveway; 

 disappointing EHDC Planning/Building Control Officers were not aware of the 
state of the building before it was demolished; 

 flank wall of property facing Chapel Street did not date from "between the wars" 
as suggested by the applicant but was more than a century old (as 
demonstrated from an artist picture showing the building dated from 1905); and 

 development should fully accord with the East Meon Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. 

 
6 Planning Policy Context 

  
Applications must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The statutory development plan in this area 
is the South Downs Local Plan 2014-2033 and any relevant minerals and waste 
plans. Other plans considered: 
 

 East Meon Neighbourhood Development Plan 
  
 The development plan policies and other material considerations considered relevant 
to this application are set out in section 7, below. 

 
7 Planning Policy  
 

Relevant Government Planning Policy and Guidance  
 
Government policy relating to National Parks is set out in English National Parks and 
the Broads: UK Government Vision and Circular 2010 and The National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF), updated February 2019. The Circular and NPPF confirm 
that National Parks have the highest status of protection, and the NPPF states at 
paragraph 172 that great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing 
landscape and scenic beauty in national parks and that the conservation and 
enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important considerations and 
should be given great weight in National Parks. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  
The following National Planning Policy Framework documents have been considered in 
the assessment of this application:  
  

 NPPF02 - Achieving sustainable development 
  

 NPPF04 - Decision-making 

Page 17



 NPPF05 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes infrastructure 
  

 NPPF11 - Making effective use of land 
  

 NPPF12 - Achieving well-designed places 
  

 NPPF14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
  

 NPPF15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 

 NPPF16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment  
 
The development plan policies listed below have been assessed for their compliance 
with the NPPF and are considered to be compliant with the NPPF. 
 
The following policies of the South Downs Local Plan are relevant to this application: 
  

 Core Policy SD1 - Sustainable Development 
  

 Core Policy SD2 - Ecosystems Services 
  

 Strategic Policy SD4 - Landscape Character 
  

 Strategic Policy SD5 - Design 
  

 Strategic Policy SD7 - Relative Tranquillity 
  

 Strategic Policy SD8 - Dark Night Skies 
  

 Strategic Policy SD9 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
  

 Strategic Policy SD12 - Historic Environment 
  

 Development Management Policy SD13 - Listed Buildings 
  

 Development Management Policy SD14 - Climate Change Mitigation and 
Adaptation of Historic Buildings 

  

 Development Management Policy SD15 - Conservation Areas 
  

 Strategic Policy SD19 - Transport and Accessibility 
  

 Development Management Policy SD22 - Parking Provision 
  

 Strategic Policy SD25 - Development Strategy 

Page 18



 Strategic Policy SD26 - Supply of Homes 
  

 Development Management Policy SD30 - Replacement Dwellings 
  

 Development Management Policy SD50 - Sustainable Drainage Systems 
  

 Development Management Policy SD51 - Renewable Energy 
  

 Development Management Policy SD54 - Pollution and Air Quality 
 
The following policies of the East Meon Neighbourhood Development Plan are 
relevant to this application: 
 

 EM2 – The Settlement Policy Boundary 
 

 EM1 – Size of dwellings 
 

 EM6 – Design Policy - Layout and Form 
 

 EM7 – Design Policy – Materials and Detailing 
 

 EM12 – Sewerage and Drainage 
 

 EM13 – Surface Water Management  
 
 
Partnership Management Plan 
The Environment Act 1995 requires National Parks to produce a Management Plan 
setting out strategic management objectives to deliver the National Park Purposes and 
Duty. National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) states that Management Plans 
"contribute to setting the strategic context for development" and "are material 
considerations in making decisions on individual planning applications." The South 
Downs Partnership Management Plan as amended for 2020-2025 on 19 December 
2019, sets out a Vision, Outcomes, Policies and a Delivery Framework for the National 
Park over the next five years. The relevant outcomes include: 
 

 Outcome 1: Landscape and Natural Beauty 

 Outcome 2: Increasing Resilience  

 Outcome 3: Habitats and Species 

 Outcome 4: Arts and Heritage 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 19



8 Planning Assessment 
 

Determining Issues 
 

1. Principle of development 
2. Impact on character and appearance of the Conservation Area / heritage assets  

 Public Benefits  

 Planning Balance  
3. Impact on neighbouring amenity 
4. Ecology 
5. Flooding 
6. Sustainable Construction 
7. Developer Contributions / Community Infrastructure Levy  

 
Planning Considerations 

  
1. Principle of development 

 
This application seeks planning permission for the replacement of 2-3 The Square, 
Chapel Street, East Meon. The existing property, which has been demolished, is a 
three bed, end terrace two storey cottage position on the corner junction between 
Chapel Street and High Street in a prominent and central location within the village of 
East Meon.  

 
The South Downs Local Plan, adopted 2 July 2019, together with the East Meon 
Neighbourhood Development Plan and the primary Development Plan documents in 
the assessment, consideration and determination of this application.  

 
Policy SD25 (Development Strategy) sets out that the principle of development with the 
Park's defined settlements will be supported. This is provided the development: 

 
a) Is of scale and nature appropriate to the character and function of the 

settlement; 
b) Makes best use of suitable and available previously development land in the 

  settlement; and 
c) Makes efficient and appropriate use of land.  

 
The development proposal seeks a like-for-like replacement of the 2-3 The Square 
and, therefore, is of a scale and nature that is appropriate to the character and function 
of the settlement and it would make suitable, appropriate and efficient use of previously 
developed land in the settlement.  
 
 
 

 

Page 20



In addition to Policy SD25 of the South Downs Local Plan, Policy EM2 of the East 
Meon Neighbourhood Development Plan sets out that within the Settlement Boundary 
of East Meon, development that complies with the policies of the of the Neighbourhood 
Plan, the NPPF and the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy will be 
permitted. Since the publication of the East Meon Neighbourhood Development Plan 
the South Downs Local Plan has been published and adopted which replaces the 
policies contained within the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy. 
Therefore, the development will be acceptable should it accord with the policies 
contained within the East Meon Neighbourhood Development Plan, the South Downs 
Local Plan and the NPPF.  
 

In this instance, with the development within the Settlement Boundary of the East 
Meon and the development according with the requirements of Policy SD25 of the 
South Downs Local Plan, the principle of the development is acceptable. However, for 
the development to be supported it would need to accord with all other relevant 
Development Plan policies, supporting documents, government advice and any other 
applicable material planning considerations. These aspects are considered below.  

 
 

2. Impact on character and appearance of the Conservation Area / heritage assets 
 

Legislative and policy context 
 

Policies SD12 (Historic Environment), SD13 (Listed Buildings) and SD15 
(Conservation Areas) set out a series of requirements for development proposals 
affecting the historic environment, listed buildings and conservations areas which are 
all relevant considerations as part of this proposal.  

 
A common theme amongst these policies are that development proposals will only be 
supported where they conserve and enhance the historic environment, including 
through the safeguarding of heritage assets and their setting. Policy SD12 sets out that 
the development proposals which affect heritage assets (designated or non-
designated) shall have regard to the significance of the asset, including the long-term 
conservation and enhancement of that asset. Policy SD13 requires development 
proposals to preserve and enhance the significance of listed buildings and their 
settings and Policy SD15 sets out that the only development permitted within a 
conservation area will be that which preserves or enhances the special architectural 
interest, character or appearance of the conservation area.  
 

Policy SD15, specifically applicable to this proposal, states that development proposals 
which involve the total or substantial demolition of buildings or structures will only be 
permitted where it is sufficiently demonstrated that: 

 
a) The current buildings or structures make no positive contribution to the special 

architectural or historic interest, character or appearance of the conservation 
area; and 

Page 21



b) The replacement would make an equal or greater contribution to the character 
and appearance of the conservation area. 

 
In addition to the above South Downs Local Plan policies, Chapter 16 of the NPPF sets 
out the core principles relating to development affecting heritage assets that local 
planning authorities need to consider in their decision-making process.  

 
Paragraph 184 - advises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource, and 
should be considered in a manner appropriate to their significance.  

 
Paragraph 191 - advises that evidence of deliberate neglect of, or damage to, a 
heritage asset, the deteriorated state of the heritage asset should not be taken into 
account in any decision.   

 
Paragraph 192 - advises local planning authorities in the determination of applications 
should take account of: 

 
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 

and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to  

  sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local  

  character and distinctiveness. 
 

Paragraph 193 - advises that when considering the impact of a proposed development 
on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  

 
Paragraph 194 - advices that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss 
of:  
 
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be 

  exceptional; 
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected 

wreck  sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and 
II* registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly 
exceptional. 

 
 
 
 

Page 22



Paragraph 195 - advises that where a development will lead to substantial harm to (or 
total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities 
should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total 
loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss, 
or all of the following apply:  

 
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and  
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term 

through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and  
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 

  ownership is demonstrably not possible; and  
d)  the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use. 

 
Finally, there are two sections of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 that are relevant to this proposal. These are sections 66 and 72, set 
out below. 

 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires planning authorities, when considering whether to grant planning permission 
for development which affects a listed building or its setting, to have special regard to 
the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

 
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires planning authorities, when considering whether to grant planning permission 
for development which affects a Conservation Area, to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of that area. 

 
Assessment 

 
The Authority's Conservation Section have been notified of the proposal and have 
considered the application seeking to replace 2-3 The Square. The Conservation 
Officer has provided a detailed response, which is set out below.  
 

Conservation Officer comments: 

 

The relevant consideration relating to the historic environment in this instance is the 

impact of the proposals on the character and appearance of the conservation area; and, 

the impact on the nearby listed buildings, their setting and any features of special 

architectural or historic interest which they possess. 

 

From the outset it should be noted that the circumstances that have led to the submission 

of this application are extremely concerning. The demolition of a historic building of at 

least 150 years old, noted in the East Meon Neighbourhood Plan (Dec 2017) as a 'non-

statutory heritage asset', set in a prominent location within the conservation area and 

Page 23



adjacent to various listed buildings has occurred without consent and without the 

opportunity to review the proposals prior to its demise, in order to take an objective view 

as to whether alternative options could have been considered to ensure the building 

survived. As such we are presented with a fait accompli.  

 

There are several factual inaccuracies that should be noted in the documentation 

submitted to support the application. It is variously stated that the Conservation Officer 

had 'no argument' and 'no objection' with the former scheme to alter the dwelling for 

which consent was eventually granted, whereas a cursory look at the consultation 

response originally submitted shows that the scheme was initially objected to on grounds 

of loss of historic character of the building and also identified the building as a non-

designated heritage asset. Following amendment, the proposals were considered, on 

balance, acceptable. It is worth noting that this objection and subsequent agreement 

were in relation to the building being adapted, not demolished.  

 

Secondly, the various assertions that once rebuilt, the dwelling will look 'the same' as 

the scheme consented to is disingenuous and shows scant regard for the value of 

historic buildings as unique contributors to the character of a place. The rebuilt dwelling 

will be brand new and will appear as such, whereas the dwelling that has been lost was 

over 150 years old with character, irregularities and patina commensurate with a building 

of such an age that was accumulated over the intervening years and now lost. 

 

Given its age and appearance, the former dwelling was regarded as a non-designated 

heritage asset set within a designated heritage asset (the conservation area) and 

therefore the relevant parts of the NPPF apply. 

 

Paragraph 132 of the NPPF says that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 

given to the asset's conservation.  

 

At paragraph 135, the NPPF says that a balanced judgement will be required having 

regard to the scale of loss and the significance of non-designated heritage assets. In 

respect of loss, the former dwelling has been entirely demolished and thus the scale of 

loss is total. As to significance, the scale, appearance and character of the former 

building embodied, and was a demonstration of, the history and character of 

development in East Meon. 

 

The NPPF provides at paragraph 138: (The) Loss of a building (or other element) which 

makes a positive contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World 

Heritage Site should be treated either as substantial harm under paragraph 133 or less 

Page 24



than substantial harm under paragraph 134, as appropriate, taking into account the 

relative significance of the element affected and its contribution to the significance of the 

Conservation Area or World Heritage Site as a whole. 

 

The rich variety of historic buildings and composition of built form in which the site is 

located is rightly designated as a conservation area. This identified historic character 

provides a rarity value to the area, of which the former dwelling provided a recognised 

positive contribution. The loss of a historic building that positively contributes to the 

character of the Conservation Area amounts to substantial harm, as set out in para 138 

of the NPPF. In such circumstance's demolition is not justified unless it can be 

demonstrated that the substantial harm is outweighed by substantial public benefit, or 

all the criteria in paragraph 133 of the Framework apply. The replacement of a single 

dwelling with another single dwelling provides no identifiable public benefit, nor does the 

criteria within paragraph 133 apply. 

 

As demonstrated above, the former building was regarded as positive contributor to the 

historic interest, character and appearance of the conservation area. The reconstruction 

of the dwelling as a facsimile of the former 150+ year-old building cannot be said to make 

an equal or greater contribution to the character or appearance of the area. 

 

In conclusion, it is for the decision maker to decide whether it has been demonstrated 

that the substantial harm identified above is outweighed by substantial public benefit. 

 

With regards to the impact of the development on the setting and special interest of the 

nearby listed buildings, although the loss of a historic building in their vicinity can be said 

to diminish their respective setting to a degree, given the spatial separation and well 

defined respective boundaries of the listed buildings, it is not considered to be at a level 

of objectionable harm. 

 

In summary, the Conservation Officer considers the proposal would not preserve the 
character and appearance of the East Meon Conservation Area and the development 
the substantial harm arising from the demolition of the building is not outweighed by 
substantial public benefits. No harm was identified to the nearby listed buildings in 
terms of their setting.   

 

 Public Benefits 
 

The NPPF clearly sets out that development which results in the substantial harm to 
(or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset should be refused consent. 
This is unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm, or the 
following apply:  

Page 25



a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and  
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term 

through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and  
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 

  ownership is demonstrably not possible; and  
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use. 

 
The building's use as a dwelling is viable and this has not been challenged by the 
applicant and no grant funding has been received or applied for to in the Authority's 
knowledge. Also, the Conservation Officer has advised that there are not considered to 
be any public benefits for the harm resulting from the demolition works.  

 
The supporting application submitted with the application claims the building was in a 
poor state of repair and not suitable for retention, however, this is questionable, and 
the Authority was never provided the opportunity to consider this information and 
inspect the property prior to its demolition. Furthermore, Paragraph 191 of the NPPF 
advised that should a heritage asset be subject of deliberate neglect or damage the 
deteriorated state of the heritage asset should not be considered in the decision-
making process. The demolition of the property is clear and deliberate damage, as 
such the state of the asset prior to the demolition works is not relevant to this proposal. 

  
The former building occupying 2-3 The Square was positioned on a prominent corner 
plot in the East Meon Conservation Area. It was a historic building and although a non-
designated heritage asset, it contributed towards the character and appearance of the 
East Meon Conservation Area - a designated heritage asset. The loss of the building 
does directly harm the character and appearance of the East Meon Conservation Area 
and, although the building is proposed to be replaced in a like-for-like fashion, the new 
building would not have the same character as a building that has been in situ for a 
considerable period of time and altered over this period.  The new building, whilst of 
the same design and form, would appear as a new dwelling and the character of the 
old building lost.  
 
Therefore, it is not considered that the harm caused as a result of the demolition of the 
existing property is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use, where 
it was previously already in use. However, the situation presented by this application is 
unique and unfortunate, in that the existing end terrace cottage (2-3 The Square) was 
demolished in full prior to the submission of the application. On this basis, the current 
situation must be considered, and suitable planning balance be drawn. This is 
considered below. 

 

 Planning Balance  
 
It has been established that the development would result in an unacceptable harm to 
non-designated heritage asset and harm to the designated heritage asset of the East 
Meon Conservation Area as a result.  

Page 26



The rebuilt dwelling would be brand new and would appear as such, whereas the 
dwelling that has been lost was over 150 years old with character, irregularities and 
patina commensurate with a building of such an age that was accumulated over the 
intervening years and now lost.  However, the situation presented under this 
application is that the existing building is no longer in place, having been demolished in 
full prior to the submission of the application. Therefore, the Authority must consider 
this context and the most appropriate solution to the medium and long-term character 
and appearance of the Conservation Area and character of the area more generally.  

 
Presently the site is void of built form and is somewhat of an eyesore, with the blank 
brick gable end of the neighbouring property exposed and remnants of the former 
property across the site. The site could be cleared, and the gable end wall of the 
neighbouring property finished appropriately. However, the site would still clearly 
appear as a vacant plot and part of the area's history lost. There would also likely be 
subsequent applications for new built development on the site, which may or may not 
be appropriate.  

 
The development proposal put forward is to replace the building the former building in 
a like-for-like manner. It would be as an exact replacement of the building as is 
possible, although admittedly under present building techniques, controls and many 
new and replacement materials that building would differ and likely not be of the same 
quality or character as the former building. However, this is considered to be the best 
possible outcome given the situation that presents itself.  

 
The replacement building would be consistent with the original building’s design, form, 
positioning on the plot and appearance, which can all be controlled by way of condition 
to ensure the best and most appropriate external materials are used to get the closest 
possible finish to resemble the former building.  

 
In summary, the replacement dwelling option put forward, subject to certain conditions, 
is considered to be the best option for the site to bring back a building that is consistent 
with the former building on the site. Leaving the site vacant or indeed putting an 
alternative dwelling on this site is likely to have a greater medium and long-term impact 
on the character and appearance of the East Meon Conservation Area than the like-
for-like replacement.  As such, when all matters are taken in account, the option 
presented, whilst regrettable and not advisable to ever demolish a property in a 
Conservation Area without written permission first from the Local Planning Authority, is 
the best option available in the circumstances. This would provide the best option to 
protect the character and appearance of the East Meon Conservation Area in the 
medium and long-term.  

 
The application has been found to be contrary to policies SD12 and SD15 of the South 
Downs Local Plan, the advice contained within the NPPF and Section 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. However, there are 
material considerations that weigh in favour of the proposed development.  

Page 27



It is considered that the replacement of the existing building, given it was demolished 
prior to the submission of this application, with the best possible like-for-like 
replacement is the best option that would best preserve the character and appearance 
of the East Meon Conservation Area.  
 
No objections are raised to the proposal in terms of its impact on the setting of the 
neighbouring and surrounding listed buildings. It would not harm the setting of these 
listed buildings and would accord with Policy SD13 of the South Downs Local Plan, the 
advice contained within the NPPF and Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

 
 

3. Impact on the landscape character and the South Downs National Park 
 

The site lies within the South Downs National Park and development is not permitted 
that would harm its tranquillity, landscape character, the Dark Nights Skies Reserve or 
conflict with the statutory purposes of the National Park. These matters are covered by 
policies SD4 (Landscape Character), SD7 (Relative Tranquillity) and SD8 (Dark Night 
Skies) of the South Downs Local Plan. 

 
Firstly, the site lies within Landscape Character Assessment Area E3: Meon Valley. 
The development would see a like-for-like replacement dwelling on the site, consistent 
in size, positioning, appearance and form to that of the former building on the site (2-3 
The Square). The replacement dwelling would not have any greater window openings, 
nor would it increase the density of development on the site or intensity of the use of 
the plot beyond that of a single dwelling house.  

 
As such, the development the development would not harm the tranquillity, landscape 
or Dark Night Skies reserve, neither would it conflict with the statutory purposes of the 
National Park. Therefore, the development complies with Policies SD4, SD7 and SD8 
of the South Downs Local Plan, the advice contained within the NPPF and the Park's 
core purposes.  

 
 

4. Impact on neighbouring amenity 
 

Policies SD5 (Design) and SD54 (Pollution and Contamination), together with the 
advice contained within the NPPF, all seek to ensure a good standard of amenity for 
existing and future occupiers. The site lies within a rural area away from built 
development and neighbouring properties.  

 
The site is surrounded by residential properties on all sides, with an attached 
neighbouring property directly to the east and a detached two storey property to the 
rear (south) of the site. The replacement dwelling would be a like-for-like replacement 
of the former two storey end terrace on the site, in terms of its positioning on the plot, 
scale and built form and the positions of the windows.  

Page 28



As such, the replacement dwelling would not result in a materially greater impact on 
the occupants of the neighbouring and surrounding properties than that of the former 
dwelling that is believed to have existed on the site for some 150 years.  
Therefore, the proposal complies with policies SD5 and SD54 of the South Downs 
Local Plan, together with the advice contained within the NPPF. 

  
 

5. Highway considerations 
 

Policy SD21 of the South Downs Local Plan ensures development proposals protect 
and enhance highway safety. The application seeks to rebuild the existing residential 
property in a like-for-like manner. A revised vehicle access point and boundary 
treatment were considered and agreed as part of an earlier application 
(SDNP/18/01438/FUL). The access arrangements, visibility splays and on-site parking 
remain consistent with the approved details. As such, the development would not have 
an adverse impact on highway safety nor would it result in a material increase in the 
present levels of on-street parking in the area. This application, therefore, complies 
with policies SD21 and SD22 of the South Downs Local Plan, together with the advice 
contained within the NPPF.  

 
 

6. Ecology / biodiversity 
 

The site lies within the village and Settlement Boundary of East Meon, which is 
surrounded by open countryside. The development would see the demolition of the 
existing building and it replacement.  

 
The County Ecologist has reviewed this proposal and the observations made are on 
the basis that this proposal is part retrospective in nature, with the demolition of the 2-3 
The Square having been carried out prior to the submission of this application. The 
comments received from the County Ecologist are as follows:  

 
The application is not accompanied by any ecological information. From my review of 
the proposal, it would seem that the dwelling is no longer present, having been 
demolished earlier this year. On that basis, there is no potential for protected or 
notable species to be present and therefore no further information is required. 
However, there is no way of knowing whether the demolition works have impacted 
protected species: from my review of the submitted photos I would suggest that it was 
highly likely that bats in particular may have been roosting within the dwelling. 

 
It is accepted that the dwelling is likely to have had bats roosting within it. However, 
there is no evidence to support this and it remains a possibility that the dwelling did not 
have any bats present. The existing building has been demolished and, as confirmed 
by the County Ecologist, there is no potential for protected or notable species to be 
present.  

Page 29



The development is not, therefore, considered to have a demonstrable impact on 
protected species or their habitats in accordance with Policy SD9 of the South Downs 
Local Plan.  

 
In addition to Policy SD9, Policy SD2 (Ecosystem Services) requires that development 
proposals make an overall positive impact on the natural environment. In this regard, a 
condition is recommended that bat boxes are installed on the site to provide an overall 
positive impact on the natural environment in accordance with the requirements of 
Policy SD2. Therefore, subject to this condition, the development is considered to also 
comply with Policy SD2 of the South Downs Local Plan.  

 
 

7. Flooding 
 

The site lies outside Flood Zone 2 (medium risk) and Flood Zone 3 (high risk), it is also 
not situated in an area known to be susceptible to surface water flooding. The 
development would replace the existing building on the site in a like-for-like nature, 
with a consistent footprint and drainage systems. As such, the development would 
have no materially greater impact on flooding that existed before the dwelling was 
demolished and the drainage connecting to the mains drainage, as per the original 
dwelling, is consistent with the former building and acceptable.  

 
Therefore, this application complies with Policies SD49 and SD50 of the South Downs 
Local Plan, Policies EM12 and EM13 of the East Meon Neighbourhood Development 
Plan and the advice contained within the NPPF.  

 
 

8. Sustainable Construction 
 

Policy SD48 (Climate Change and Sustainable Use of Resources) sets out that all 

development proposals are required to achieve minimum standards as set out within the 

policy, unless it can be demonstrated that doing so is not technically feasible or would 

make the scheme unviable. 

 

The minimum standards for residential development is as follows: 
i. Energy efficiency: 19% carbon dioxide reduction improvement against Part L 

  (2013) through the energy efficiency of the building and;  
ii. Water: Total mains consumption of no more than 110 litres per person per day.  

 
No information has been submitted to set out the sustainable credentials of the 
building, nor that it would not be feasible for the development to meet the above 
standards. It is accepted that the replacement dwelling is effectively a modern 
replacement of an old building, within a Conservation Area, but this does not mean to 
say that the policy requirements cannot be achieved.  
 

Page 30



It is considered that the could be achieved and, on this basis, a condition is 
recommended to secure these energy efficiency and water requirement. Subject to 
such a condition, the development would accord with Policy SD48 of the South Downs 
Local Plan. 

 
9. Developer Contributions / Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
There are no developer contributions for a development of this scale and although the 
development would result in a replacement dwelling on the site. An informative will be 
attached to any decision to the applicant / agent advising them of the requirements of 
potential CIL payments.  

 
 
9 Conclusion 
 

This is a part retrospective application following the unauthorised demolition of the 
former two storey end terrace (2-3 The Square) on the site, with a like-for-like 
replacement dwelling proposed.  

 
The replacement dwelling, given its like-for-like nature, would not have any greater 
impact on the character of the area, amenities enjoyed by the occupants of the 
neighbouring properties or increased flooding / drainage concerns above that of the 
former dwelling on the site. Also, the development would not harm the setting of the 
nearby listed buildings.   

 
In addition, whilst concerns have been raised by the County Ecologist that the former 
dwelling was likely to have protected bat species presented, there is no evidence to 
support this and therefore no objections have been raised to the replacement dwelling 
proposed.  

 
The replacement dwelling, whilst presented in a like-for-like manner, is not considered 
to have equal architectural merit and make such a notable contribution to the character 
and appearance of the East Meon Conservation Area, since the rebuilt dwelling would 
be brand new and would appear as such, whereas the dwelling that has been lost was 
over 150 years old with character, irregularities and patina commensurate with a 
building of such an age that was accumulated over the intervening years and now lost. 
As such, the demolition and replacement dwelling would neither conserve or enhance 
the East Meon Conservation Area and the development fails to comply with Policies 
SD12 and SD15 of the South Downs Local Plan, the advice contained within the NPPF 
and section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  

 
Despite the above conflicts with policy, guidance and section 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Planning Law (section 70 (2) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004) states planning decisions must be taken in accordance with the 
development plan unless there are material considerations that indicated otherwise.  

Page 31



In this instance, a significant material consideration is that the original building on the 
site was demolished prior to the submission of this application and, therefore, it is not 
possible to retain the original dwelling. Whilst this unauthorised demolition is in no way 
condoned or supported, this application needs to be considered in the current context 
of the site.  Although a like-for-like replacement dwelling is not considered to be equal 
to that of the former dwelling, as described above, it is considered to be the best option 
in this instance. The site left empty or potential an alternative building design and form, 
would be likely to have a greater medium and long-term impact on the East Meon 
Conservation Area. 
 
Therefore, to conclude, the most favourable option is considered to be the like-for-like 
replacement of the dwelling with conditions securing appropriate external materials and 
finishes. This material consideration is considered by Officers to outweigh the conflicts 
with the development plan and the application is recommended for approval as a 
pragmatic way forward to addressing this situation.   
 

10 Reason for Recommendation and Conditions 
 
It is recommended that the application be Approved for the reasons and subject to the 
conditions set out below. 
 
 
1. Within two months from the date of this planning permission, a written 

construction programme setting out the key milestones and dates from 
commencement of the development through to the substantial completion of the 
replacement dwelling, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development works shall proceed in accordance with 
agreed timescale through to completion of the development, unless an 
alternative programme is otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.   
Reason - To ensure the replacement dwelling is constructed in a timely manner 
to   prevent the continued unsightly gap in the street scene, which would be 
prejudicial to the character and appearance of the conservation area. 
 

2. Any parts of the building exposed by the demolition work for which permission 
has been granted, shall as part of the contract be made good to the satisfaction 
of the Local Planning Authority prior to the completion of the project.   

 Reason - To protect the appearance of the East Meon Conservation Area. 

 
3. No development shall commence on site until details, including labelled samples 

(manufacturer, type and where it is to be used) of all external materials 
(including finishes, and rainwater goods), have been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority. All materials that survive from the 
demolition of the former dwelling shall be re-used in the construction of the 
replacement dwelling. 

Page 32



Reason - To ensure the materials and finishes to be used are appropriate, in 
order to maintain the character and appearance of the conservation area. It is 
considered necessary for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these 
details need to be agreed prior to the construction of the development and thus 
go to the heart of the planning permission.    

 
4. Notwithstanding the approved plans, the development hereby permitted shall 

not be commenced until detailed drawings of the windows and doors have been 
 submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The details 
to comprise:- 

 a) Plans to clearly identify the window and door in question and its location 

  within the property.  

 Where a large number of windows and doors are involved the windows 

should be cross referenced to an elevation drawing or floor plan for the 

avoidance of doubt; 

 b) 1:20 elevation and plan; 1:5 section and full size glazing bar detail. The  

  details to include the position of the window within the opening (depth of 

  reveal) and method of fixing the glazing (putty or beading); and 

 c) The materials used, method of opening and finishes.  

 

 The works shall be carried out in full accordance with such approval and be 

 retained thereafter. 

         

Reason - In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of 
the Conservation Area.  It is considered necessary for this to be a pre-
commencement condition as these details need to be agreed prior to the 
construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the planning 
permission.  

 
5. The development hereby approved shall not be first brought into use until the 

boundary treatment has been implemented in full, in accordance with the 
approved plans (Boundary Treatment and Landscaping: Existing House - 
drawing number TS 50). In addition, the front boundary treatment facing the 
High Street, comprising a timber picket fence, shall be retained or matching 
replacement  installed, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved details shall be fully implemented before the use of the 
development is commenced and/or any part of the development is occupied and 

shall be retained thereafter. 
 
  Reason - To ensure an appropriate standard of visual amenity in the area and to 
  safeguard the privacy and amenities of the residents of the locality. 
 

6. No development shall start on site until a construction method statement has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority, which shall 
include: 

Page 33



 A programme of construction work; 

 The provision of long term facilities for contractor parking; 

 The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works; 

 Methods and phasing of construction works; 

 Access and egress for plant and machinery; 

 Protection of pedestrian routes during construction; 

 Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material, and 
plant storage areas; 

 Provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 
development during construction period; and 

 Re-use of on site material and spoil arising from any site clearance or 
demolition work. 

 
Construction work shall only take place in accordance with the approved 
method statement. 

 
  Reason - In order that the Planning Authority can properly consider the effect of 
  the works on the amenity of the locality and in the interests of highway safety. 
 

7. The finished floor levels and overall ridge height of the replacement dwelling 
hereby approved shall be constructed in accordance with the approved plans 
(drawing number TS 21 C), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
Reason - To ensure that a satisfactory relationship results between the new 
development and adjacent buildings and public areas.  It is considered 
necessary  for this to be a pre-commencement condition as these details 
relate to the construction of the development and thus go to the heart of the 
planning permission. 

 
8. No development above slab levels shall commence on site until a scheme has 

been submitted to, and agreed in writing by, the Local Planning Authority to 
demonstrate that the replacement dwelling, hereby approved, incorporates 
energy efficiency measures that provides at least 19% carbon dioxide reduction 
improvement against Part L (2013) of Building Regulation requirements.  

 
Before any part of the development is first occupied a verification report and 
completion certificate shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority confirming that the replacement dwelling has been 
constructed  in accordance with the approved scheme.  

 
The developer / applicant shall nominate a competent person for the purposes 
of assessing and providing the required report and certificate to confirm that the 
completed dwelling incorporates energy saving measures to meet the specified 
requirement. The measures shall thereafter be retained and maintained to the 
agreed specification for the lifetime of the development.  

Page 34



 
      Reason - To ensure the development incorporates necessary mitigation and 
  adaptation measures with regard to climate change. 
 

9. The replacement dwelling hereby approved shall be constructed and fitted out to 
comply with Building Regulations 2010 (as amended) requirement G2 (36) (2) 
(b), which limits the amount of water to be used by each individual at a property 
to no more than 110 litres of water per day. This limit shall not be exceeded 
thereafter.  

 
Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates necessary mitigation 
and adaptation measures with regard to climate change. 

 
10. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a minimum of 

one bat box shall be installed within the site. The bat/bird box shall be installed 
as per the manufacturer's instructions and shall be installed within the site, 
retained and maintained thereafter of the duration of the development.  

 
Reason - To protect and enhance biodiversity in accordance with policies SD2 

and SD9 of the South Downs Local Plan. 
 
11. The proposed hard surface/s shall either be made of porous materials or 

provision shall be made to direct run-off water from the hard surface(s) to a 
permeable or porous surface within the site.  

 

 Reason - To ensure adequate provision for surface water drainage and avoid 

 discharge of water onto the public highway. 

 
12. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order, 2015 (or any Order revoking, re-
enacting or modifying that Order) no extensions and outbuildings otherwise 
permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, B, C, and D of said Order shall 
be carried out on the dwellinghouse or within its curtilage without the prior 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

 

 Reason - It is considered that further alteration of this dwelling could result in an 

 adverse effect upon the visual character of the area. 

 
13. Before use of the development is commenced provision for parking shall have 
 been made within the site in accordance with the approved plans and shall be 
 retained thereafter. 
 

 Reason - To ensure adequate on-site car parking provision for the approved 

 development. 

 

Page 35



14. Approved Plans 
 

 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

 plans listed below under the heading "Plans Referred to in Consideration of this 

 Application". 

 

 Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
  

 11.  Crime and Disorder Implications  

  11.1  It is considered that the proposal does not raise any crime and disorder 
implications.  

 12.  Human Rights Implications  

  12.1  This planning application has been considered in light of statute and case 
law and any interference with an individual’s human rights is considered to be 
proportionate to the aims sought to be realised.  

 13.  Equality Act 2010  

  13.1  Due regard has been taken of the South Downs National Park Authority’s 
equality duty as contained within the Equality Act 2010. 

 14.  Proactive Working  

  
 In accordance with paragraphs 38 and 39 of the NPPF East Hampshire District 

Council (EHDC), on behalf of the South Downs Park Authority, takes a positive 
and proactive approach and works with applicants/agents on development 
proposals in a manner focused on solutions by: 

 

 offering a pre-application advice service, 

 

 updating applicant/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of 

their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 

 

In this instance, although the applicant did not request pre-application advice, they 
have been made aware of issues during the assessment of their application and 
additional information was received during the consideration of the application. No 
further assistance / information was required. 

 

 

  

Page 36



Plans Referred to in Consideration of this Application 

The application has been assessed and recommendation is made on the basis of the 
following plans and documents submitted: 

 

Plan Type Reference Version Date on Plan Status 

 

Plans - Existing rear elevation TS07  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Proposed ground floor plan TS13A  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Proposed first floor plan TS14B  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Proposed front elevation TS15A  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Proposed rear elevation TS17A  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Proposed section TS18A  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Proposed site plan TS21C  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Form -    29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - CIL - 
additional information 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Baseline 
assessment checklist 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Page 37



Application Documents - Ecosystem 
services statement 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Noise 
Assessment 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Condition 
report 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Planning 
statement 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Design and 
access statement 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - 
Observations 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Pre 
application letter 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Decision 
notice 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Decision 
notice for DCOND 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Letter from 
applicant 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Page 38



Application Documents - Schedule of 
materials 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Notes 
regarding conditions in planning 
permission 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Clement - 
roof light details 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Application Documents - Design and 
Heritage statement 

  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

OS Extract - Location plan TS010  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Proposed site plan TS02  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Existing ground floor plan TS03  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Amended works to first floor TS51  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Proposed 23m sight line TS40B  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Boundary treatment and 
landscaping 

TS50  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Openings at ground floor 
level 

TS50A  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Page 39



Plans - Boundary treatment (new 
house) 

TS51  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Existing side elevation TS06  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Existing front elevation TS05  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Plans - Existing first floor plan TS04  29.04.2020 Approved 

 

Reasons - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

  

Page 40



Part 2, section 1 Item 1 2 – 3 The Square, Chapel Street, East Meon 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Proposed site plan 
 
 
 

Page 41



Part 2, section 1 Item 1 2 – 3 The Square, Chapel Street, East Meon 

 
 

 
 

Proposed site plan showing new house access as approved  

Page 42



Part 2, section 1 Item 1 2 – 3 The Square, Chapel Street, East Meon 

 

 
Block plan 

 
 

 
Proposed front elevation   

Page 43



Part 2, section 1 Item 1 2 – 3 The Square, Chapel Street, East Meon 

 
 
 

 

Page 44


	Agenda
	 
	7. Future Items
	8.(i) SDNP/20/01678/FUL - 2-3 The Square, Chapel Street, East Meon, GU32 1NP

